
Property / Regeneration Briefing 
In line with advice from HM Government, the council is now holding only essential 
meetings. This plays a part in helping us to maintain the safety of the public, staff and 
councillors. These meetings are being held electronically and, unfortunately, you will 
not be able to attend them.   

However, the City Mayor has asked that, as far as possible, there is still public 
involvement and input into the decision-making process. 

Therefore, should you wish to raise a question or comment on any of the items listed, 
which will be presented at the meeting on your behalf, you can do so in writing, by 
sending an email to the address at the bottom of this agenda. 

Please do this by 4.30pm on the day before the meeting is due to take place.

Decision notices or minutes from meetings will be available as appropriate. Should you 
wish to view decisions taken meetings of the Cabinet and other Lead Member 
Briefings, they will be available for viewing on the council website - 
https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx

Further information on the coronavirus and what it means for Salford can be found on 
the council website - https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus

DATE: Monday, 8 June 2020

TIME: 11.00 am

VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declarations of interest 

3  Items for Decision - Part 1 (Open to the Public) 

No items

4  Briefing/Information Only Items 

4a Former Brackley Golf Course. Little Hulton (Pages 1 - 10)

5  Exclusion of the Public 

6  Items for Decision - Part 2 (Closed to the Public) 

6a Land at Queen Street, Greengate, Ordsall (Pages 11 - 12)

Public Document Pack

https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx
https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus


6b The Folly, Station Road, Pendlebury (Pages 13 - 14)

6c Former Brackley Golf Course, Little Hulton (Pages 15 - 16)

6d Plot B7 off New Bailey Street, Ordsall (Pages 17 - 18)

7  Any other business 

Contact Officer: Mike Relph, Senior Democratic Services Advisor
Tel No: 0161 793 3013
E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


1

Part 1 - This report is produced for public information. The formal 
decision with be taken as a Part 2 item due to the confidentiality of 
elements of the report which have been removed from this report 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE

TO PROPERTY AND REGENERATION 

ON 8th June 2020 

TITLE: Disposal of land at the former Brackley Golf Course

RECOMMENDATIONS:
The City Mayor is recommended to:

1 Approve the disposal of the subject site and two adjoining assets in the Council’s 
ownership subject to the following:

(a) a review and agreement of the final figure of consideration to be paid once
   ground investigations have been completed; 

(b)  agreement of the price to be paid for two adjoining Council assets and

(c)  the final negotiated terms of the disposals

All of which will be reported back for approval through the City Mayor.  

2 Authorise the Shared Legal Service to prepare all necessary documentation and 
to take all steps which are required to give effect to:

a) the terms agreed for the disposals, and

b) the recommendations in this report.

      3 Note that a further report is to follow regarding the potential acquisition of a 
           property to support Education provision needs in the area.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4a



2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

In March 2018, the City Mayor approved Heads of Terms for a Collaboration 
Agreement between the City Council and the golf course long leaseholder and related 
companies (LL) for the potential disposal of the former Brackley Golf Course and other 
adjacent land in respective ownerships of the City Council and LL. The Collaboration 
Agreement was entered into on 23rd March 2018.

Outline planning consent was subsequently sought for the residential development of 
the golf course site and other adjacent lands with planning consent for 677 units 
being secured on 28th March 2019 when the linked section 106 agreement was 
signed.

The opportunity was then marketed and this report details the offers received with a 
recommendation in principle to dispose of the site and other adjacent land in the 
Council’s ownership on the terms outlined within the report.

The Collaboration Agreement provided for the proposed disposal of the site to the 
chosen developer on a long (250 year) development lease basis. However, it 
became apparent in the marketing process that developers would not accept a long 
leasehold interest in the site due to the difficulties previously reported to the City 
Mayor with regard to sale of leasehold houses. As a result it was subsequently 
agreed between the Council and the LL that the site would be disposed of on a 
freehold basis but with protections included to ensure delivery and prevent land 
banking as detailed in paragraph 2.13 of this report. 

Under the Collaboration Agreement the net proceeds of sale are to be split 50% to 
the Council and LL.

The final sales price is yet to be determined but once the developer have completed 
their ground investigations negotiations will then take place to agree any reduction in 
the sale price in respect of adverse ground conditions.

In selecting a preferred purchaser the Council wants to secure an appropriate social 
value commitment from the preferred purchaser and the developer’s commitment in 
that regard is as set out within the report.

Whilst the outline planning approval obtained on the 28th March 2019 does not require 
the provision of Affordable Housing within the development, the report sets out the 
developer’s development intentions and highlights that if the developer were to seek 
to amend the outline consent then it is likely that the current planning policy 
requirement would require a 20% Affordable Housing provision.

The report also details other associated property transactions that may be brought 
forward to the City Mayor for consideration in relation to the proposed inclusion of two 
other Council assets to be sold to the developer and also the potential acquisition of a 
property to assist with Education needs in the area. 

Page 2



3

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Report to City Mayor March 2018 (Part 2 
Item)

KEY DECISION: Yes: Disposal of an asset for over £350,000

1.0 Background

1.1 The site of Brackley Golf Course, shown edged red on the attached Plan 1, is 
let to LL for a term of 250 years from 6th November 2006. Pursuant to the 
terms of the lease, the tenant advised that the site was no longer viable as a 
golf course. 

1.2 On the 16 May 2018 the lease was assigned the Lease to a related Company 
owned by the same directors.

1.3 In March 2018, the City Mayor gave approval for a Collaboration Agreement to 
be entered into between the Council and LL in respect of the golf course 
leased area and also adjacent land and property owned by the relevant parties

1.4 The Collaboration Agreement was completed on 23rd March 2018.

1.5 The Collaboration Agreement envisaged that LL would submit an application 
for outline planning permission for the lands in advance of the land being 
marketed for residential development and sets out how the proceeds of sale 
would be shared between the parties. 

2.0 Information 

2.1 Planning situation

Outline planning consent was granted for 677 units on 28th March 2019.

The units are a mix of 2/3 and 4 bed properties with all but 81 being houses. 

As the scheme has been given Outline consent, there are a number of 
planning conditions that will need to be addressed prior to a start on site being 
made.

The planning consent does not require Affordable Housing to be provided as 
there was no policy requirement for such provision at the date the application 
was considered and determined. This however would be reviewed if the 
selected developer were to seek to modify the outline consent given that the 
policy requirement is now 20%

2.2 Whilst no on-site education provision was required as part of the planning 
consent, a substantial section 106 contribution of around £4.5 Million is 
envisaged covering both Education and other policy requirements.

Page 3



4

2.3 Offers received/Council share 

Once planning consent was secured, the development opportunity was 
marketed in summer 2019 and attracted significant interest from a number of 
national and regional residential developers.

Initial offers were sought and then a final and best offer was sought from the 
parties making the 3 highest initial offers. 

The full details of those developers, the offers received and associated 
assumptions will be considered as part of the Part 2 report in relation to this 
matter. 

The Collaboration Agreement provided for the disposal of the site to the 
preferred developer on a long (250 year) development lease basis. However, it 
became apparent in the marketing process that developers would not accept a 
long leasehold interest in the site due to the difficulties previously reported to 
the City Mayor with regard to sale of leasehold houses. As a result it was 
subsequently agreed between the Council and LL that the site would be 
disposed of on a freehold basis but with appropriate protections included to 
ensure delivery and prevent land banking as detailed in paragraph 2.13 of this 
report. 

2.4 Whilst a number of the offers made required further clarification to arrive at a 
net offer price the view of Council officers and LL, was that further discussion 
should take place with one developer on a “preferred bidder basis”. 

As their bid was subject only to any variation in price as a result of ground 
investigation conclusions the developer has been given approval to undertake 
such works on site. These works are ongoing and the conclusions are expected 
to be available in Mid-June. That will then enable a discussion to arrive at a net 
sales price to be agreed with the developer.

Once agreed the provisionally agreed net sales price will be reported to the City 
Mayor for approval.
 

2.5 Once a net sales figure has been agreed, and on completion of the disposal, 
that figure will be split 50% to the Council and 50% to LL subject to allowable 
deductions from the total sale price in accordance with the Collaboration 
Agreement relating to the costs incurred by LL in regard to site assembly, 
various legal and professional fees associated with gaining planning consent, 
entering into the Collaboration Agreement, funding and management costs of 
LL and the marketing of the site. 

2.7 Additional Payments to Council

           In addition the City Council will, subject to agreement of the sale price, also 
receive the existing use value of two other assets to be included in the sale that 
will be reported separately once that value has been agreed.

Page 4



5

2.8 Social Value

           As part of their submissions all developers were asked to detail their Social 
Value proposals and the developer’s response is detailed within the Part 2 
report. This was considered acceptable and the City Council has worked closely 
with the developer on a number of sites across the City.
If appointed it would be the intention of officers to work with the developer post 
appointment to maximise the social value return from this significant 
development opportunity.

2.9 Affordable Housing 

The outline planning consent granted for this scheme did not require the 
provision of affordable housing as there was no policy requirement to do so at 
the time of the application.

In their proposals to acquire the site, the developer has detailed their intention 
to develop a mixed tenure scheme broadly similar to what they have undertaken 
elsewhere.

In summary this would provide units for open market sale, units for private rent 
and shared ownership units in conjunction with a registered provider.

If appointed it would be the intention of officers to discuss and agree the final 
mix of tenures with the developer through the agreement of the reserved matters 
on the approved scheme or through the consideration of any new application 
made where there would be an automatic 20% Affordable Housing requirement. 

2.10 Under the Collaboration Agreement, the Council can seek to secure a greater 
level of Affordable Housing to that within the outline consent, but the Council 
would be responsible for the costs of such provision either directly or by way of 
a reduced share of the proceeds of sale.

2.11 Terms of Sale

The basic principles of the sale process are that, in relation to all matters, 
completion will take place at the end of the judicial review period following the 
grant of reserved matters planning approval for the scheme, unless otherwise 
agreed 

2.12 The Collaboration Agreement sets out the broad details of the disposal 
arrangements, subject to the variation as to the disposal of the freehold rather 
than a long term development lease as previously mentioned and the specific 
Heads of Terms for the proposed sale 

2.13 As mentioned in the Executive Summary of this report the proposal is for the 
disposal of the freehold interest in the site. In order to prevent land banking 

Page 5



6

and to secure delivery of the development, and as part of the negotiations with 
the Developer, the Council will seek to include in the Sale Agreement suitable 
provisions to give the Council the option to buy back the Development Site, or 
relevant part(s) of it, in the event the Developer fails to carry out and complete 
key stages of the Proposed Development by specified key stage target dates.

         
          The detailed terms of the “buy back” option and the specifics of the key stages 

are still to be agreed with the developer.

In accordance with other similar sales agreements, the developer will be 
obligated to pass on the Freehold interest to individual house purchasers, or in 
respect of disposals of any apartments, without any onerous covenants or 
conditions

2.14 Approval is also being sought to progress the legal work in respect of the sale 
now to enable matters to be advanced to the point where a sale agreement can 
be completed promptly once a net sales price with the developer and a value 
for the inclusion of the Council’s additional land to be included within the sale 
has been agreed.

2.15 Education provision 

City Mayor’s approval was given in March 2020 for negotiations to progress 
negotiations to try to acquire a property to provide the opportunity for the 
potential expansion of the school at a later date to assist with basic need 
provision. Negotiations are progressing and will be reported to the City Mayor 
for consideration if a provisional agreement to acquire can be reached.

3.0 Conclusions.

3.1 The development of the proposed 677 units represents a significant opportunity 
to enhance housing provision and tenure within this part of the City and also 
provides a number of social value and employment opportunities that the 
Council will seek to maximise.

3.2 In respect of the completed scheme a future council tax income of circa £1.1 
Million p.a is forecast alongside a New Homes Bonus of circa £4.5Million based 
on the 677 unit scheme currently proposed.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 
 Great Eight Priorities: Housing 

 Great Eight Priorities: Economic Development

Page 6



7

 2025 Salford = A Modern Global City

 Regeneration

 Housing Strategy
         

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:
There are no equality impact issues arising and directly as a consequence of this 
report

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: David Green – Head of 
Regeneration (Legal) - Shared Legal Service 
Subject to the nature of the terms and conditions of the proposed disposal as are 
finally agreed in regard to the proposed disposal, there are no adverse legal 
implications with regards to the proposed joint disposal. Provided the proposed 
disposal of the Council’s land interest(s) is/are at market value and constitute(s) the 
best consideration reasonably obtainable for those interest(s) the requirements of 
Section 123 Local Government Act 1972 will be satisfied.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 
Alex Archer – Finance Manager 0161 778 0498
Part withheld 

The receipt generated will be used to finance existing borrowing for the capital 
programme.

The agreement also includes overage should the buyer achieve better than expected 
sale prices in relation to the open market units to be built as part of the proposed 
development. Salford City Council would be entitled to 25% of this figure.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Anthony Hilton 686 6250
Procurement comments from me – A competitive process has been undertaken as 
required, resulting in the maximum value being achieved for the sale of the land. It 
will be important to ensure that additional social value is delivered and captured as 
part of the ongoing works.

Page 7



8

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:

There are no HR implications arising from this proposal.

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:
Michael Hemingway Principal Officer - Climate Change 0161 793 3209
The City Council’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPD seeks to ensure that 
sustainable design and construction measures are integrated into new 
developments. The layout and detailed design of the proposal for the site were not 
part of the outline planning application so the sustainability credentials of the 
development are unknown at this stage.  Homes will be built to the latest building 
regulations.

An ecological corridor will be retained along the length of the northern boundary of 
the site.

The proposals for the site will encourage the use of sustainable travel modes to and 
from the site. These measures will assist in reducing air quality impacts associated 
with traffic and vehicles on the highways network. These include a contribution for 
Bus Stop Improvements; upgrade of footway to current standard; provision of bus 
clearway road marking and contributions towards improvement to Manchester Road 
West pedestrian facilities.

The applicant provided a drainage strategy which indicate that SuDS are not possible 
at this site owing to unsuitable ground conditions. However, other SuDS techniques 
should be considered as a part of the sustainable drainage strategy for this site e.g 
private water butts; green/blue roofs; permeable paving etc

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:
People Directorate with regard to school basic need implications 

Local Member Views: Local members were consulted in relation to the proposals 
and their views and comments reflected in the work that has been undertaken in 
bringing the site forward

CONTACT OFFICER: Peter Openshaw TEL NO: 793-3050 

Page 8



9

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:
Little Hulton

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972

Name of Report: 
Land at Queen Street, Greengate, 
Salford  

Committee: 
The Property & Regeneration Briefing 
Date: 8 June 2020.

Category of exemption applied: Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A Local 
Government Act 1972 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person, including the Authority holding that information.

Public Interest Test Questionnaire
This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 
should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality.

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION
Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in public 
debate about current issues?

No

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions? 

No

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 
probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff?

No

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 
for council taxpayers? 

No

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives? 

No

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 
information which might adversely affect public health and safety)  

No

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice?

No

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 
occurred?

No

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION

Page 11

Agenda Item 6a



Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information?

Yes

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 
without giving the public any useful information? 

Yes

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 
situation?

No

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving the 
public useful information? 

No

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or individuals 
at risk? 

No

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general would 
benefit more from information being withheld? 

 

No

Justification of decision

The report details the commercially sensitive terms and conditions that are agreed for 
a transaction that is not yet legal completed and therefore it is not appropriate at this 
time to release the information.

Name and Title: Sarah Malone, Senior Development Surveyor
Date: 24th March 2020

Page 12



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972

Name of Report: 

The Folly, Station Road, Swinton M27 
6BT

Committee:

The Property & Regeneration 
Briefing 
Date: 8 June 2020.

Category of exemption applied: Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A Local 
Government Act 1972 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person, including the Authority holding that information.

Public Interest Test Questionnaire
This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 
should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality.

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION
Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in public 
debate about current issues?

Yes

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions? 

No

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 
probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff?

No

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 
for council taxpayers? 

No

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives? 

No

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 
information which might adversely affect public health and safety)  

No

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice?

No

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 
occurred?

No

Page 13

Agenda Item 6b



FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION
Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information?

Yes

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 
without giving the public any useful information? 

Yes

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 
situation?

No

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving the 
public useful information? 

Yes

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or individuals 
at risk? 

No

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general would 
benefit more from information being withheld? 

 

No

Justification of decision
(Please provide explicit reasoning)

The above acquisition and implementation of the scheme will be funded through the 
Growth Deal Fund, held by TfGM and the above transaction is subject to TfGM’s 
approval being forthcoming. 

Name and Title: Alex Cox, Graduate Surveyor
Date: 24th April 2020

Page 14



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972

Name of Report:
Former Brackley Golf Course, 
Little Hulton

Committee: Property/Regeneration 
Briefing
Date: 8 June 2020

Category of exemption applied: Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A Local 
Government Act 1972 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person, including the Authority holding that information.

Public Interest Test Questionnaire
This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 
should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality.

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION
Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in public 
debate about current issues?

Yes

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions? 

Yes

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 
probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff?

No

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 
for council taxpayers? 

No

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives? 

No

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 
information which might adversely affect public health and safety)  

No

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice?

No

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 
occurred?

No

Page 15

Agenda Item 6c



FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION
Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information?

Yes

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 
without giving the public any useful information? 

Yes

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 
situation?

No

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving the 
public useful information? 

Yes

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or individuals 
at risk? 

No

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general would 
benefit more from information being withheld? 

Yes

Justification of decision

The report details the commercially sensitive terms and conditions that are agreed for 
a transaction that is not yet legal completed and therefore it is not appropriate at this 
time to release the information in accordance Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A Local 
Government Act 1972.

Name and Title: Peter Openshaw 
Assistant Director Environment and Community Safety 
Date: 26 May 2020

Page 16



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972

Name of Report
Plot B7 off New Bailey Street, Ordsall 

Committee: Property/Regeneration 
Briefing
Date: 8 June 2020

Category of exemption applied: Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A Local 
Government Act 1972 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person, including the Authority holding that information.

Public Interest Test Questionnaire
This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 
should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality.

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION
Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in public 
debate about current issues?

Yes

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions? 

Yes

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 
probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff?

No

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 
for council taxpayers? 

No

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives? 

No

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 
information which might adversely affect public health and safety)  

No

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice?

No

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 
occurred?

No

Page 17

Agenda Item 6d



FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION
Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information?

Yes

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 
without giving the public any useful information? 

Yes

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 
situation?

No

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving the 
public useful information? 

Yes

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or individuals 
at risk? 

No

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general would 
benefit more from information being withheld? 

 

Yes

Justification of decision

The report contains financial and contractual information which should remain 
exempt in accordance Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A Local Government Act 
1972.  The main terms of the property transaction, excluding certain financial 
details, will be publicly available after completion for a small fee.

Name and Title: Steven Keigher
Principal Estates Surveyor 
Date: 27th May 2020

Page 18


	Agenda
	4a Former Brackley Golf Course. Little Hulton
	6a Land at Queen Street, Greengate, Ordsall
	6b The Folly, Station Road, Pendlebury
	6c Former Brackley Golf Course, Little Hulton
	6d Plot B7 off New Bailey Street, Ordsall

